I. INTRODUCTION 

InHuetterv. Warehouse& Realty Co., 81 Wash. 331,336,142 

P. 675, 677 (1914), this Court established a rule that has become a 

bedrock of Washington construction law: an owner that drafts plans 

and specifications for a project and requires the contractor to follow 

them bears the risk if the plans and specifications prove insufficient to 

produce the desired result. Washington opinions have regularly 

invoked this rule where a contractor faultlessly performs the work 

called for by the owner's plans, but a defect in the plans results in a 

defect in the finished product. See, e.g., id. at 332; Clark v. Fowler, 58 

Wn.2d 435, 438, 363 P.2d 812, 815 (1961); Tyee Constr. v. Pac. Nw. 

Bell Tel., 3 Wn. App. 37, 40, 472 P.2d 411, 414 (1970). This case 

presents this Court with the opportunity to make clear that the same 

rule applies where the prescribed method of performing the work is 

defective. See City of Seattle v. Dyad Constr., Inc., 17 Wn. App. 501, 

505,565 P.2d 423 (1977). 

In this case, petitioner contractor was able to complete the 

work only by departing from the owner's prescribed methods, which 

took more time and increased the contractor's costs. Petitioner's 

evidence introduced in opposition to summary judgment showed that 

the plans and specifications provided by the owner, King County, were 
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defective because they specified a machine and a method for using the 

machine that proved unsuitable to the conditions at the project site. 

This case should have been governed by Huetter, Dyad, and the 

cases discussed below, which establish that the owner, not the 

contractor, is responsible for the extra time and expense required to 

complete the work when the owner's plans are defective. Division One 

decided otherwise and in the process announced at least two legal 

rules at odds with existing Washington law that unwisely will increase 

costs for both owners and contractors. This Court should grant review 

to prevent Division One's published decision from becoming a costly 

new template for future public works contracts. 

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

The petitioner is a joint venture known as Vinci Construction 

Grands Projets/Parsons RCI/Frontier Kemper, .N (VPFK), defendant 

in the trial court and appellant in the Court of Appeals. 

III. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

The Court of Appeals issued its published decision on 

November 9, 2015, King County v. Vinci Construction Grands Projets, 

_ Wn. App. _, _ P.3d _, 2015 WL 6865706 (Nov. 9, 2015) (Op.) 

(App. A), and denied VPFK's timely motion for reconsideration on 

December 29, 2015 (App. B). 
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IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. May a contractor who initially agreed with the owner's 

plans and specifications pursue a defective specification claim? 

2. When the machine and method for using it specified by 

the owner are incompatible with the existing ground conditions, is the 

contractor precluded from pursuing a defective specification claim 

because the contract includes a differing site conditions clause? 

3· May a contractor that is able to complete the work only 

by departing from the owner's plans and specifications at considerable 

extra cost pursue a defective specification claim? 

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. King County Awards VPFK A Contract To Build The 
Central Tunnel for the Brightwater Wastewater 
Treatment Project. The County Requires VPFK To Use 
AnSTBM. 

In 2006, King County invited contractors to submit bids on the 

Brightwater wastewater treatment project, a public work that included 

13 miles of tunnels, hundreds of feet underground, connecting a 

treatment plant along the King/ Snohomish County border with Puget 

Sound. (RP 803, 2034, 2649; CP 4; see ex. 4019, at 2.) The County 

divided the tunnel portion of the project into three sections and 

solicited separate bids for each. (RP 570.) The central section 

comprised two segments, referred to as BT-2 and BT-3. 
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Because it anticipated water pressure along the entire central 

section of the tunnel (ex. 1143, at KC0059099, KC0059101; see 

RP 3574-76), the County concluded the contractor would need to use 

tunneling machines that applied pressure against the ground directly 

in front of the machine (the "face"), to prevent water from seeping in 

and the ground in front of the tunnel from collapsing. (Ex. 1143, at 

KC0059110; see RP 1078, 3575-76.) Engineers advised the County two 

types of machines could apply such pressure: (1) an earth pressure 

balance machine (EPBM), which uses excavated soil to exert pressure 

to support the face (RP 3585, 4322; ex. 4033, at 16); or (2) a slurry 

tunnel boring machine (STBM), which uses a pressurized slurry fluid 

to continually infuse the tunnel face, making it impermeable and 

preventing it from collapsing. (RP 3590-91; see RP 1106, 2780; 

ex. 4033, at 17, 19-20.) 

The engineers warned the County that to properly operate an 

STBM, "it is important to have detailed knowledge of the anticipated 

ground conditions .... " (Ex. 1143, at KC0059112; see RP 3414 

(same).) Knowledge of anticipated ground conditions also was 

essential to perform periodic "interventions," i.e., subterranean 

inspections and maintenance work on an STBM. (CP 292; RP 577, 

2320, 2792-93, 3094-95; ex. 6, at KCoo01032-33.) If an STBM was 
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operated or inspected under unknown or unpredictable ground 

conditions, the tunnel face could collapse and trap or even kill 

workers. (RP 1745, 2229-30, 2682-83.) 

After reviewing the two options, the County decided to require 

the contractor for the BT-2 and BT-3 tunnels to use an STBM. The 

County included that requirement in the plans and specifications that 

it alone developed for the Central Contract. (Ex. 6, at KCooo1022 

("Slurry TBM is required"); ex. 1275, at KC_EM_0021455.) 

VPFK submitted the winning bid. In June 2006, VPFK and the 

County executed the Central Contract. (RP 2649, 2655; exs. 6, 1380.) 

B. The STBM Dictated By The County Proves Incapable 
Of Performing The Work In A Timely Manner. 

For an STBM to operate properly, the slurry must be tailored to 

the soil being excavated. (CP 719.) Sticky soil (clay) requires one type 

of slurry, non-sticky or looser soil requires a different slurry. (CP 281, 

851-52, 882.) When the type of soil changes, the slurry, along with the 

screens and other components ofthe slurry system, must be changed 

to accommodate the different soil, significantly disrupting and slowing 

the tunneling process. (CP 281, 471.) The more frequent the changes 

between sticky and non-sticky soils, the more often the slurry system 

must be modified and the slower the work will proceed. (CP 281-82, 
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842.) If the soil changes are unpredictable, the efficiency of the work is 

further reduced. (CP 281.) 

VPFK employed two STEMs to excavate the ET -2 and ET -3 

tunnels, one proceeding east, the other proceeding west. (RP 571.) 

Shortly after it began working on the tunnels, VPFK discovered that 

the ground conditions in both tunnels prevented the STEMs from 

operating properly: the changes between sticky and non-sticky soils 

occurred frequently and unpredictably. (CP 280, 303; RP 3800-07, 

4172.) VPFK had to constantly modify settings and change screens and 

filters in the slurry system. (RP 912, 1549, 4428; ex. 35, at 

KC0090564.) VPFK faced repeated delays and tunnel face collapses, 

which slowed work, increased costs, and endangered workers. 

(RP 2791, 3800-07, 4172, 4183-84, 4308-09, 4826; CP 307.) 

A year after the work began, VPFK submitted two omnibus 

change order requests seeking additional time and money attributable 

to the difficulty of properly operating the STEMs in the existing soil 

conditions. (CP 303; exs. 68, 1514; see ex. 6, at 78-79.) VPFK made a 

"differing site conditions" claim, asserting it had encountered more 

frequent changes between soil types than the Central Contract 

indicated. (CP 69, 73, 76.) VPFK also made a separate "defective 

specifications" claim, asserting the County breached its implied 
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warranty that the STBM and the prescribed method for using it would 

allow VPFK to complete the project within the timeframes specified in 

the contract. (Ex. 68, at KC0090657; see CP 303.) This defective 

specification claim did not depend on the ground conditions being 

different than indicated. 

C. An Expert Panel Concludes An STBM Cannot Perform 
The Work In The Prescribed Manner. 

In May and June 2009, VPFK discovered damage to both the 

BT -2 and BT -3 STEMs that prevented work from continuing. (RP 754-

55, 1624-25; see ex. 141, at KC0091631.) Both STEMs were about 

330 feet underground, under pressures that exceeded the Contract 

ceiling of75 psi. (RP 2690-91, 2807; ex. 1620, at 1.) To figure out how 

to repair the machines under these conditions, and to consider more 

broadly the problems the project faced because of unpredictable soils, 

VPFK and the County convened a panel of international experts. 

(RP 780, 3482-83; ex. 126, at 3; ex. 128, at KC_EM_0000499; 

ex. 1635, at KC_EM_oo61197; ex. 1649, at 2.) 

Following three days of meetings, the expert panel issued its 

recommendations. Because of the dangers posed by performing 

interventions under high pressure in unpredictable ground, the panel 

concluded the County's original plans and specifications should no 

longer be followed. Instead, all future interventions would have to be 
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performed in artificial safe havens created by dewatering the ground, 

so that the atmospheric conditions were similar to those on the 

surface. (RP 974, 3109, 3113-14, 4470; ex. 1626, at HKoooo891; 

ex. 1649, at 11 (intervention without dewatering and depressurization 

"is not an option").) The panel also recommended that exploratory 

bore holes be drilled from the surface every 200 or 300 feet to 

determine soil conditions along the route and that the recommended 

safe havens be created from the surface every 1,000 feet. (RP 633, 784, 

787,974, 2647; ex. 1649, at 13-14.) The County initially agreed to these 

changes, which were not part of the original specifications dictated to 

VPFK by the County, but the County then refused to issue change 

orders implementing the expert panel's recommendations. (RP 1162, 

2752; ex. 1690, at KC009442; ex. 1696; see also ex. 1686.) 

D. The County Hires Another Contractor To Complete 
The BT-3 Tunnel Using A Machine The County 
Prohibited VPFK From Using. 

Before it had ruled on VPFK's change requests (exs. 68, 1514), 

the County declared VPFK in default for failing "to prosecute the Work 

or any portion thereof with sufficient diligence to ensure Substantial 

Completion of the Work within the Contract Time." (RP 2102-03, 

2109-10; ex. 6, at KC0000491; ex. 142 (default notice).) 
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Following a mediation, VPFK and the County reached an 

"Interim Agreement" that allowed the County to replace VPFK with 

another contractor, JDC, to complete the BT-3 tunnel. JDC had just 

completed work on the westernmost tunnel using an EPBM. The 

County authorized JDC to use the EPBM to complete BT-3, even 

though the Central Contract with VPFK had prohibited VPFK from 

using an EPBM machine. 

Using the changed procedures recommended by the Expert 

Panel-exploratory bore holes, dewatering, and artificial safe havens 

(all "ground improvements" not called for by the Central Contract)

VPFK completed the BT -2 tunnel without further problems. (RP 1974, 

2008, 2013-14, 2044,2218,3259,3264-65, 4872-73.) Using its EPBM, 

JDC completed work on the BT-3 tunnel. (RP 2052-53.) 

E. The Trial Court Proceedings. 

A week after it hired JDC, the County filed this action against 

VPFK for breach of contract. (CP 1-14.) VPFK counterclaimed, 

alleging, inter alia, that the County breached its implied warranty by 

providing defective plans and specifications, and that the County 

breached the Central Contract by refusing to grant change orders and 

time extensions for differing site conditions. (CP 74-89.) The court 

granted the County's motions for summary judgment on the defective 
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specification/implied warranty claim and the differing site condition 

claim based on frequently changing soil conditions. (CP 1082-83.) 

The County presented two damage claims to the jury: one for 

the claimed extra cost of completing Brightwater, including hiring 

JDC to complete the BT-3 tunnel, and the other for $40 million in 

costs the County claimed it incurred because Brightwater's opening 

was delayed by 18 months. (RP 2523-58.) 

Following a three-month trial, the County prevailed on both of 

its damage claims and recovered $155,831,471. (CP 4537.) VPFK 

recovered $26,252,949 on claims that remained after the court 

dismissed its defective specification/implied warranty claims on 

summary judgment. (I d.; CP 4543-54.) 

F. The Court of Appeals Published Opinion. 

Division One affirmed the judgment in all respects. The court 

affirmed the summary judgment for the County on VPFK's defective 

specification claim on the grounds that: (1) a contractor cannot assert 

a defective specification claim if the contractor itself believed the 

owner's plans and specifications would work (op. ~ 74); and (2) ifthe 

work method dictated by the owner turns out to be ineffective in light 

of the ground conditions encountered, the contractor may assert only 
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a differing site condition claim, not a defective specification claim 

(op. ~~ 76-77). 

VPFK had also challenged the trial court's refusal to instruct the 

jury that the County impliedly warranted that the work could be 

completed within the time allowed if the contractor followed the 

County's plans and specifications. The Court of Appeals held the trial 

court properly refused the instruction because VPFK could not 

establish that the Contract's specifications were defective for failing to 

specify the use of ground improvements (which proved essential to 

complete the work) because the Contract did not prohibit VPFK from 

departing from the plans and spending its own money to create the 

ground improvements. (Op. ~ 81.) 

VI. WHY THIS COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW 

A. Division One's Holding That A Contractor Cannot 
Assert A Defective Specification Claim If It Believed 
The Owner's Plans Would Work Conflicts With Prior 
Holdings Of This Court. RAP 13.4(b)(l). 

In Huetter, this Court held that when an owner requires a 

contractor to follow the owner's plans and specifications, the owner 

'"may fairly be said to have warranted [its plans] adequate to produce 

that result."' Huetter, 81 Wash. at 336 (citation omitted). It is the 

owner, not the contractor, who bears the risk if the plans and 

specifications fail to produce an adequate result. I d. at 335; Weston v. 
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New Bethel Missionary Baptist Church, 23 Wn. App. 747, 753, 598 

P.2d 411 (1978). 

Based on these principles, a contractor who follows the owner's 

plans and specification is entitled to be paid the contract price, even if 

the plans fail to produce the specified result. Ward v. Pantages, 

73 Wash. 208, 131 P. 642 (1913); Huetter, 81 Wash. at 336-37; 

Weston, 23 Wn. App. 747; Clark, 58 Wn.2d 435. Furthermore, if 

defects in the plans result in unanticipated expenses, the contractor is 

entitled to be compensated for those expenses. See Tyee, 3 Wn. App. 

37 (contractor entitled to the extra costs it incurred replacing conduits 

damaged as a result of performing work pursuant to the method 

required by the owner); Bentley v. State, 73 Wis. 416, 41 N.W. 338 

(1889), cited with approval in Huetter, 81 Wash. at 337 (contractor 

entitled to be paid for redoing work made necessary because of defects 

in the original plan). Finally, a contractor is not chargeable for delays 

occasioned by the contractor's need to depart from the defective plans 

and specifications to accomplish the work. Dyad, 17 Wn. App. at 517-

19. 

In opposition to the County's motion for summary judgment, 

VPFK submitted evidence that the County's plans and specifications 

were defective because they required VPFK to perform its work with 
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an STBM in unpredictable and frequently changing soils and without 

making any provision for ground improvements. (See op. ~~ 76, 77; 

CP 719-20.) In affirming summary judgment for the County on VPFK's 

defective specification/implied warranty claim, Division One held 

that, despite this evidence, VPFK could not pursue a defective 

specification claim because VPFK itself originally believed that an 

STBM was the correct machine for the job. (Op. ~ 73 ("the evidence 

before the trial court on summary judgment was that VPFK actually 

preferred the STBM over the EPBM").)1 

The court's conclusion that VPFK could not pursue a defective 

specification claim because it originally agreed with the plans is in 

conflict with this Court's opinion in Seattle School District v. King 

Plumbing & Heating Co., 147Wash.112, 265 P. 463 (1928). In Seattle 

School, the Court held that the cost of replacing a defective thermostat 

could not be recovered from the contractor who installed the device 

because the owner's engineer was solely responsible for the adequacy 

of the design. !d. at 117-18. Importantly, the Court held it was 

irrelevant that the contractor itself had recommended the same device 

that the owner through its engineer had selected: 

VPFK expressed a preference for an STBM before it began working on 
the tunnel, when it reasonably believed the transitions between different soil 
types would be relatively smooth and predictable. (See CP 221.) 

13 



Some contention is made in behalf of the district rested 
upon the theory that the heating company became 
responsible for the choosing of Cromwell thermostats. 
This, we think, is wholly immaterial[.] True, the heating 
company did so specify in its bid, but that, to our minds, 
does not change the force and effect of the express terms 
of the contract by which the district ultimately elected to 
have Cromwell thermostats installed. 

Id., cited in Shopping Ctr. Mgmt. Co. v. Rupp, 54 Wn.2d 624, 343 

P.2d 877 (1959). Division One's opinion is in direct conflict with 

Seattle School. Under Seattle School, VPFK's views on the suitability 

of an STEM were "wholly immaterial." Seattle School, 147 Wash. at 

117. Under Division One's opinion, VPFK's views were fatal to its 

claim. 

Contrary to Division One's analysis, a defective specification 

claim is available only when the contractor does not know the owner's 

plans will not work-that is, when the contractor agrees that the 

project can be completed using the plans and specifications the owner 

dictates. "'[A]n experienced contractor cannot rely on government-

prepared specifications where ... he knows or should have known that 

the prepared specifications could not produce the desired result .... "' 

L. W. Foster Sportswear Co. v. United States, 405 F.2d 1285, 1290 

(Ct. Cl. 1969) (citation omitted). VPFK's initial belief that an STEM 

would be suitable for the job is a prerequisite to asserting the claim. 
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Division One's view that it disqualified VPFK from asserting the claim 

is contrary to governing law and logic. 

Division One's opinion also conflicts with the rationale that 

underlies the defective specification/implied warranty doctrine, that 

'"responsibility rests upon the party who fathers the plan and presents 

it to the other with the implied representation that it is adequate for 

the purpose to be accomplished."' Huetter, 81 Wash. at 336 (quoting 

MacKnight-Flintic Stone Co. v. Mayor of N.Y., 160 N.Y. 72, 83, 54 

N.E. 661 (1899)). This Court should grant review and reject the 

limitation Division One has placed on Huetter's defective specification 

rule. 

B. Division One's Conclusion That, When Ground 
Conditions Preclude A Contractor From Completing 
The Work Using The Prescribed Method, The 
Contractor May Assert Only A Differing Site Condition 
Claim, Not A Defective Specification Claim, Conflicts 
With Prior Holdings Of This Court. RAP 13·4(b)(1). 

VPFK opposed the County's motion for summary judgment on 

its defective specification claim with evidence that STBMs work most 

effectively when the changes between sticky and non-sticky soils occur 

infrequently and predictably. Because the soils in BT-2 and BT-3 _ 

changed frequently and unpredictably, the STBMs suffered constant 

delays and could not achieve a proper and timely result. 

15 



Division One held that, because the soil prevented the STBMs 

from operating properly, VPFK could assert a differing site condition 

claim but not a defective specification claim. (Op. ~~ 77-78.) This 

holding wrongly blurs the distinction between differing site condition 

claims and defective specification claims and denies recovery for 

claims authorized by Huetter's implied warranty doctrine. 

As this Court explained in Huetter, 81 Wash. at 336, a claim for

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