GLOSSARY 

Bond Performance and Payment Bond issued by 
Sureties, Trial Exhibit 6 

Brightwater Project The King County regional wastewater treatment 
system at issue in this appeal 

BT-l Brightwater tunnel segment 1 

BT -2 Brightwater tunnel segment 2 

BT -3 Brightwater tunnel segment 3 

BT-4 Brightwater tunnel segment 4 

Central Contract Contract documents governing VPFK's work on 
BT-2 and BT-3, Trial Exhibit 6 

Central Tunnel BT -2 and BT -3 

Contract Central Contract 

Corrective Action Plan Trial Exhibit 145 

CP Clerk's Papers 

East Contract Contract documents governing work on BT -1 

East Tunnel BT-l 

EPB TBM Earth pressure balance tunnel boring machine

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

IV. ARGUMENT 

A. VPFK's Petition For Review Should Be Denied. 

1. Contrary To VPFK's Argument, The Court Of 
Appeals' Holding Regarding Defective Specification 
Claims Is Not Contrary To This Court's Precedent. 

VPFK's lead argument is that "Division One's holding that a 

contractor cannot assert a defective specification claim if it believed the 

owner's plans would work conflicts with prior holdings of this Court." 

VPFK Pet. 11. There is no such holding. The Court of Appeals held that 
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"VPFK failed to create a material question of fact that the STBM 

[specification] was defective." Op. ~ 78. The trial court did likewise. CP 

1083 ~ 2 ("There is no evidence that the specifications were defective."). 

In addition to mischaracterizing the Court of Appeals' ruling, 

VPFK fundamentally misunderstands how its prior statements regarding 

the STBM requirement (as set forth on page 4 above) fit within the 

summary judgment framework. Under Washington law, "[a] party may 

move for summary judgment by setting out its own version of the facts or 

by alleging that the nomnoving party failed to present sufficient evidence 

to support its case." P ac. Nw. Shooting Park Ass 'n v. City of Sequim, 15 8 

Wn.2d 342, 350, 144 P.3d 276 (2006). Then, "the burden shifts to the 

nonmoving party to present admissible evidence demonstrating the 

existence of a genuine issue of material fact." !d. at 3 51. This Court has 

consistently held that "[ c ]onclusory statements and speculation will not 

preclude a grant of summary judgment." E.g., Elcon Constr., Inc. v. E. 

Wash. Univ., 174 Wn.2d 157, 169,273 P.3d 965 (2012). 

In its summary judgment motion regarding the defective 

specification claim, King County submitted the evidence referenced in the 

Court of Appeals' opinion, including deposition testimony that VPFK 

"preferred" the STBM over the alternative and did not believe the 

specification was defective. Op. ~ 73; CP 238-39. The burden then 
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shifted to VPFK to present evidence demonstrating an issue of fact -

rather than relying on conclusory statements and speculation. The trial 

court found that VPFK failed to present such evidence, and the Court of 

Appeals agreed. CP 1083 ~ 2; Op. ~ 78. Neither ruling hinges on VPFK's 

preference for the STBM; they are instead based on the absence of 

evidence that the STBM requirement was defective. Id. 

It follows that the Court of Appeals' analysis does not conflict with 

Seattle School District v. King Plumbing & Heating Co., 147 Wash. 112, 

265 P. 463 (1928), as VPFK claims. VPFK Pet. 13. The plaintiff in 

Seattle School argued that the contractor was responsible for choosing 

Cromwell thermostats when in fact "the [plaintiff] ultimately elected to 

have Cromwell thermostats installed." Seattle School, 147 Wash. at 117-

18. That is why, as VPFK notes (VPFK Pet. 14), the fact that the 

contractor chose Cromwell thermostats was "wholly immaterial" (Seattle 

School, 147 Wash. at 117). Consistent with Seattle School, the Court of 

Appeals did not fault VPFK for choosing an STBM. Instead, it held only 

that "VPFK failed to create a material question of fact that the STBM 

[specification] was defective." Op. ~ 78. 

The other cases cited by VPFK also do not support its argument. 

In Shopping Center Management Company v. Rupp, 54 Wn.2d 624, 343 

P.2d 877 (1959) (VPFK Pet. 14), the Court distinguished its decision in 
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Seattle School on grounds that are applicable here: it noted that the 

adequacy of the design in Seattle School was solely the responsibility of 

the owner whereas the contractor in Shopping Center had guaranteed the 

satisfactory operation of the equipment. !d. at 631-33. The Court also 

clarified that the holding in Seattle School applies only "in the absence of 

an express warranty" by the contractor. !d. at 631. 

Huetter v. Warehouse & Realty Co., 81 Wash. 331, 142 P. 675 

(1914) (VPFK Pet. 15), is to the same effect. The Court there held: 

If a contractor cannot perform by reason of defective plans 
which he is required to follow, which render the contract 
impossible of performance, which were not prepared or 
provided by him, but were prepared and provided by the 
owner, ... there would seem to be no just reason why the 
contractor may not recover for work done in strict 
compliance with such plans and specifications .... 

!d. at 337. Like the Court in Shopping Center, the Court also held in 

Huetter that the contractor cannot recover for such additional work if it 

"has warranted that the plans and specifications are correct." !d. at 335 

(internal quotation marks and citation omitted). 

The Court of Appeals' opinion is consistent with these cases. 

Unlike the contractor in Seattle School, VPFK expressly warranted that it 

would timely complete the work using an STBM. CP 5435 (representing 

that "the Contract Time is adequate for the performance of the Work as 
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represented by the Contracf').2 Nor is there any evidence that using an 

STBM would "render the contract impossible of performance," as required 

to establish a defective specifications claim under Huetter. 81 Wash. at 

337. Indeed, VPFK completed BT~2 using an STEM. CP 5407; RP 870. 

Based on these legal principles, the Court of Appeals correctly affirmed 

the trial court's summary judgment ruling. 3 

Finally, VPFK argues that it presented evidence in response to the 

County's summary judgment motion that the Cmmty's specifications were 

defective because they required VPFK to perform its work in 

"unpredictable and frequently changing soils and without making any 

provision for ground improvements." VPFK Pet. 12~ 13. These arguments 

likewise fail. First, VPFK knew when it submitted its bid that "soil 

conditions are very complex and at times erratic." Ex. 16 at 1. Second, 

VPFK' s argument regarding ground improvements does not pertain to the 

specification of an STBM but rather concerns other specifications; the 

County did not move for, and the trial court did not grant, summary 

2 Also significant here, the Court held in Shopping Center that the "apparent 
conflict" between the cases cited by the parties largely "disappears" when the Court 
considers the applicable guaranty provisions. 54 Wn.2d at 632 (internal quotation marks 
and citation omitted). Given VPFK's express warranty, the same is true in this case. 

3 L. W. Foster Sportswear Co. v. United States, 405 F.2d 1285 (Ct. Cl. 1969) 
(VPFK Pet. 14), also does not support VPFK's argument. L. W. Foster is not a 
Washington case, and even if it were the court there merely held that "'an experienced 
contractor'" -like VPFK- "'cannot rely on government-prepared specifications where 
... he knows or should have known that the prepared specifications could not produce the 
desired result.'" Id. at 1290 (citations omitted). No such issue is presented here. 
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judgment regarding those other specifications. Op. ~ 78. Third, as noted 

previously, such "conclusory statements and speculation will not preclude 

a grant of summary judgment." Elcon Constr., 174 Wn.2d at 169. Such 

fact-bound issues do not in any event warrant this Court's review. 

2. The Court Of Appeals Correctly Concluded That Some 
OfVPFK's Arguments Regarding The STBM 
Requirement "Were Differing Site Conditions Claims." 

VPFK next argues that the Court should grant review to "make 

clear" that contractors may pursue "both" a defective specifications claim 

and a differing site condition claim "where the ground conditions render 

the prescribed machine and method for using it incapable of achieving the 

proper result." VPFK Pet. 18. VPFK misstates the applicable legal 

principle, and this issue does not otherwise warrant the Court's review. 

VPFK contradicts this argument earlier in its brief. According to 

VPFK, it could pursue a differing site conditions claim if ground 

conditions "differed materially from those indicated by the plans." !d. at 

16. VPFK then notes, "[ o ]n the other hand," that it could pursue a 

defective specifications claim if the STBM "could not operate properly" in 

ground conditions that "did not differ materially from those indicated in 

the plans." !d. at 16-17 (emphasis in original). This either/or framework 

is consistent with VPFK's counterclaim, quoted by the Court of Appeals, 

which alleged that the STBM requirement was defective "[i]f the actual 
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ground conditions encountered are what should have been anticipated 

based on the Contract Documents." Op. ,-r 69; CP 75 ,-r 50. 

The Court of Appeals properly applied this framework. Where, for 

example, VPFK alleged that ground pressures in the tunnel "were much 

higher than anticipated," the Court of Appeals correctly determined that 

"this claim is a differing site condition claim." Op. ,-r 75. The same is true 

regarding VPFK's other claims, such as predictability of soil conditions, 

transitions between plastic and nonwplastic soils, and tunnel face 

instability. Op. ,-r,-r 76-77. Since VPFK alleged that the STBM 

requirement was defective because conditions differed from those 

indicated in the Contract, the Court of Appeals correctly concluded that 

these are differing site condition claims, which were dismissed on 

summary judgment, presented to the jury, or settled before trial. Id. 

Nor does the Court of Appeals' analysis conflict with City of 

Seattle v. Dyad Construction, Inc., 17 Wn. App. 501, 565 P .2d 423 (1977), 

as VPFK claims. VPFK Pet. 17. In Dyad, the court did not hold that a 

contractor can pursue both a defective specifications claim and a differing 

site condition claim based on the exact same circumstances. To the 

contrary, the contractor alleged a defective specifications claim based on 

its "inability" to complete the work in the indicated conditions. 17 Wn. 

App. at 505. Thus, even if relevant under RAP 13.4(b)(l), the Court of 
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Appeals' ruling is consistent with its previous ruling in Dyad, and it is 

likewise consistent with the federal cases cited by VPFK.4 This fact-

bound inquiry does not warrant discretionary review. 

3. The Court Of Appeals Correctly Rejected VPFK's 
Implied Warranty Argument. 

VPFK next asserts: "Division One's holding that a contractor who 

achieves a proper result, at great expense, only by departing from the 

owner's plans, cannot pursue a defective specification claim is in conflict 

with prior holdings of this Court." VPFK Pet. 19. In support of its 

assertion that such a conflict exists, VPFK argues that, under Huetter, an 

owner that drafts the plans for a project "impliedly warrants that, if the 

contractor follows the plans, they will be 'adequate to produce [the 

specified] result."' Id. (quoting Huetter, 81 Wash. at 336). 

Here again, the Court of Appeals' analysis does not conflict with 

this Court's precedent. Similar to Huetter, the Court of Appeals 

acknowledged in its opinion that King County, by furnishing the plans and 

specifications for the Brightwater Project, "impliedly guarantee[ d) that the 

4 See Comtrol, Inc. v. United States, 294 F.3d 1357, 1362 (Fed. Cir. 2002) 
("where the alleged defect in the specification is the failure to disclose the alleged 
differing site condition," the contractor's claim is "governed by the specific differing site 
conditions clause and the cases under that clause"); MA. DeAtley Constr., Inc. v. United 
States, 71 Fed. Cl. 370,375 (2006) (distinguishing Comtrol because contractor asserted a 
"distinct basis" for its defective specifications and differing site condition claims); 
Appeal of Maitland Bros., ASBCA No. 23849, 83-1 BCA ~ 16,434 (contractor alleged 
defective specification claim because it was unable to complete the work in the indicated 
conditions). 
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plans are workable and sufficient." Op. ~ 68. VPFK's complaint is not 

with the recitation of this legal principle, but with how the Court of 

Appeals applied it to the facts at issue- which is another fact-bound issue 

that does not warrant discretionary review. 

Moreover, the Court of Appeals' factual analysis is correct. Under 

Huetter, as noted previously, a contractor is entitled to additional 

compensation only if the plans that the contractor "is required to follow ... 

render the contract impossible of performance." 81 Wash. at 337. That 

cannot be the case if, as the Court of Appeals concluded, "the Contract 

does not prohibit the contractor from using ground improvements when 

conducting interventions." Op. ~ 68. As a result, VPFK cannot argue-

legally or logically- that the County impliedly warranted that such 

improvements were "unnecessary" (id. ), nor can it establish impossibility 

as required by Huetter. Because the Court of Appeals correctly stated and 

applied this legal principle, VPFK's petition for review should be denied. 

B. The Sureties' Petition For Review Should Also Be Denied. 

1. The Court Of Appeals Correctly Applied "Well Settled 
Law" In Rejecting The Sureties' Arguments Regarding 
The County's Entitlement To Attorney Fees. 

The Sureties seek review of the Court of Appeals' ruling that 

"[u]nder Olympic Steamship and Colorado Structures, the County was 

entitled to recover attorney fees from the Sureties." Op. ~ 103. The sole 

21 



basis for seeking review of that ruling is RAP 13.4(b)(4) (Surety Pet. 5-6), 

but there is no "issue of substantial public interest that should be 

determined by the Supreme Court" as required to grant such review. To 

the contrary, as the Court of Appeals noted, Olympic Steamship and 

Colorado Structures are "well settled law." Op. ~ 110. 

Olympic Steamship long ago established an insured's right to 

recover attorney fees in litigation against its insurer. 117 Wn.2d at 53. In 

Colorado Structures, the Court rejected the defendant's argument that 

performance bonds are somehow different from an insurance policy with 

regard to recovery of attorney fees. The Court explained: "given the 

underlying principles of Olympic Steamship and the nature of a 

performance bond, which guarantees the performance of the principal, we 

fail to find a material distinction." 161 Wn.2d at 598. In so holding, the 

Court emphasized several complementary considerations: 

• The Court emphasized the importance of providing an 
economic incentive for sureties to either promptly complete the 
principal's work or pay the obligee. The Court explained that 
"[i]fthe maximum risk to the surety is the penal amount of its 
bond, a surety has nothing to lose." Id. at 602. The Court 
added: "Without the application of Olympic Steamship and 
awarding attorney fees in addition to the policy limits of a 
surety bond when appropriate, an insurer would have 
absolutely no incentive to refrain from litigation over even the 
most clear coverage provisions." Jd. at 607. 

• The Court relied on the disparity of power at the point in time 
when an event occurs that arguably triggers the surety's 
obligation to make payments. Id. at 602. The Court noted that 
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this disparity "is compelling" and that the "obligee has no 
leverage over the surety to compel payment, except litigation." 
I d. The Court added: "If the transaction costs of litigation are 
too high relative to the bond, obligees will simply cut their 
losses." I d. 

• The Court held that "when an insurer unsuccessfully contests 
coverage, it has placed its interests above the insured. Our 
decision in Olympic Steamship remedies this inequity by 
requiring that the insured be made whole." I d. at 607 (internal 
quotation marks and citation omitted). The Court applied this 
consideration to the parties before it and concluded that the 
obligee, like the policyholder in Olympic Steamship, should be 
awarded attorney fees so as to "be made whole." Id. 

Based on these considerations, the Court held that "Olympic Steamship 

attorney fees apply to performance bonds." Id. at 608.5 

The Sureties argue that discretionary review is warranted because 

there is no majority opinion in Colorado Structures on the attorney fees 

issue. VPFK Pet. 5, 12. That is incorrect. Four justices joined the lead 

opinion in Colorado Structures. 161 Wn.2d at 587, 608. A fifth justice 

dissented on the first issue presented and then stated: "As to the second 

issue, I agree with the majority that Olympic Steamship applies to surety 

bonds." Id. at 638. Previously, the Sureties appropriately recognized that 

concurring opinion in the Court of Appeals when it argued that "[i]n 

Colorado Structures, a bare majority of the Supreme Court extended the 

5 The Court also emphasized that "all surety bonds are regarded as 'in the 
nature' of insurance contracts, and controlled by the rules of interpretation of such 
contracts." !d. at 598. The Court likewise held that ambiguous bond provisions are 
"construed in favor of liability ofthe surety." Id. at 588 (internal quotation marks 
omitted). 
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Olympic Steamship exception to a general contractor's action against a 

subcontractor's surety for payment under a performance bond .... " Surety 

Br. 20 (emphasis added). It is disingenuous to now argue otherwise. 6

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